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The Italian city of Florence in Tuscany is the cradle of 
traditional Italian leather craftsmanship. The city has been 
home to some of the shiniest names in fashion for centuries. 
Embodying the romantic atmosphere of the terroir, 
TUSCAN’S lays claim to the rich leatherwork heritage of 
Florence.

In 1974, Mr Antonio Perrotti and Mr Giovanni Starnini co-
founded TUSCAN’S in a bid to make a tasteful and stylish 
statement with premium leather. Their passion for tradition 
helped develop TUSCAN’S into a kingdom of leather goods 
which is now expanding into Far East, incorporating Italian 
attitude into Oriental style.

Italy – a cultural landmark that prides itself on master 
craftsmanship, classic design and romantic Latin heritage;

China – the world’s new centre of fashion with a taste for 
creative daring.

TUSCAN’S will spark off a transformation in style that puts 
personality and classic design to the fore.

ABOUT 
TUSCAN’S
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Consolidated revenue decreased 12.4% year-on-year to HK$3,380.4 million

Geographically, North America and Europe continued to be our two largest markets
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Year ended 30 June   
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 3,380,422 3,856,779
Gross profit 882,591 1,003,509
Earnings before interest and taxation 507,721 620,254
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 411,947 504,254
Net assets per share (note 1) (approximately) HK$2.12 HK$1.98
Basic earnings per share (note 2) (approximately) HK$0.41 HK$0.50
Dividends per share (note 3) HK23 cents HK28 cents
Total assets 2,679,501 2,450,709
Net assets 2,119,945 1,980,480
Current ratio 3.97 times 4.21 times
Quick ratio 3.19 times 3.58 times
Gearing ratio N/A N/A
Return on equity 19.4% 25.5%
Return on total assets 15.4% 20.6%   

Notes:

1. The calculation of the net assets per share amount is based on the net assets as at 30 June 2015 to ordinary equity holders of 
the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,001,532,000 (30 June 2014: 1,001,532,000) in issue 
during the year.

2. The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year ended 30 June 2015 attributable 
to ordinary equity holders of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,001,532,000 (30 June 
2014: 1,001,532,000) in issue during the year.

3. The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK13 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2015 (30 
June 2014: HK18 cents), together with the interim dividend of HK10 cents per share for the period ended 31 December 2014 
(31 December 2013: HK10 cents), brings the annual dividend of HK23 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2015 (30 
June 2014: HK28 cents). For more details, please refer to note 12 of the consolidated financial statements.
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STATEMENT

Top Quality Contemporary Italian Leather Style Handbags 
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Dear Shareholders,

It is my pleasure to present this annual results for the year ended 30 June 2015 of Sitoy Group Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” or “Sitoy Group”) to you.

For the financial year of 2015, a number of developed countries around the globe were struggling amid various challenges 
presented to their economies. Uncertainties were looming over the European Economic Area (“EEA”) at large and the 
recovery of the United States (the “US”) economy was far from solid, leading to poor consumer sentiment in retail market as 
a whole. Affected by the difficult business environment, sales performance in high-end clothing and accessories was weak, 
and the Group’s results of operations had in turn come under pressure. For the year ended 30 June 2015 (the “Year under 
Review”), the Group’s revenue decreased 12.4% year-on-year to HK$3,380.4 million. Gross profit dropped 12.0% year-
on-year to HK$882.6 million, while gross profit margin remained stable and reported a slight increase of 0.1 percentage 
point, to 26.1%. Profit attributable to shareholders reduced by 18.3% to HK$411.9 million. The Board recommended 
payment of a final dividend of HK13 cents per share.

High-end and luxury brand customers are the target of sales of the Group. During the Year under Review, the sluggish 
atmosphere in the consumer market as a whole had taken a toll on the Group’s revenue from manufacturing operation, 
which was lower than last year, dropped by 13.4% to HK$3,272.0 million during the Year under Review.

For the manufacturing operation, the Group had been able to satisfy the various needs from its customers with its 
competitive advantages, including expertise in production, design and research and development of high-end handbags 
and small leather goods, sophisticated craftsmanship and quality service. While consolidating its relationship with existing 
customers, the Group actively sought new business in an attempt to broaden its customer base. With China’s rapidly 
emerging middle class and the rise of second-tier cities, and continued improvement in living standards of the general 
population and increase in purchasing power, there are sufficient opportunities in this promising market for new brands. 
Apart from establishing strong tie with European and American customers, the Group has been actively looking for 
opportunities for cooperation with luxury brand and domestic brand customers.

With a view to expand its product mix, the Group strived to tap into business-travel and leisure-travel goods business 
to diversify income source. It has thus become one of the few manufacturers with the capability of producing diverse 
products. To tap into the enormous potential of travel goods, the Group’s production lines for the handle and hard case 
in Yingde, Guangdong Province have commenced its operation. The Yingde facility increased its annual output following 
the completion of its production capacity expansion during the Year under Review, thus provided strong support to the 
development of the traveling products business. The Group expects that there will be a steady growth in the business and 
leisure travel goods segments.

During the Year under Review, despite persistingly high labour costs, the management of the Group successfully achieved 
effective cost control. As strong expertise, craftmanship and know-how are highly requisite for manufacturing of handbags, 
small leather goods and travel goods, the Group made efforts to reduce costs through research and development (R&D) 
and upgrading its production machinery and equipment, and mitigated the pressure of labour shortage with installation of 
machinery to operate simple procedures, while continuing to adopt the cost-plus pricing model.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

For the retail business, the Group have formulated a successful business model after 4 years in operation since the launch of 
the Italian TUSCAN’S brand in China in 2011, and the brand has established a good reputation in China. During the Year 
under Review, revenue from retail business recorded a year-on-year growth of 36.6% to HK$108.5 million and contributed 
3.2% to the Group’s total revenue, which was 1.1 percentage points higher than previous year. Both the store network and 
sales volume of TUSCAN’S were expanding progressively. During the Year under Review, the Group continued to review 
the efficiency of store operation, optimized its store portfolio through relocation as well as further adjusted the proportions 
of its department stores and stand-alone retail stores. The Group achieved higher cost-efficiency by raising the number of 
stand-alone retail stores in prime locations in renowned retail areas in the regions. For the year ended 30 June 2015, the 
total number of retail stores for TUSCAN’S branded handbags increased to more than 80. During the Year under Review, 
the Group set up 4 new retail stores in Hong Kong at major shopping malls with high traffic flow. Such successful move 
enhanced reputation and image of its brand in China and Hong Kong. With expanding scale of sales network, the Group 
carried out intensive marketing activities and brand promotion to bolster customers’ good impression and confidence 
towards TUSCAN’S, contributing directly to products sales.

Looking ahead, the Group will seize opportunities in the challenging business environment by leveraging on its existing 
competitive strengths. Headed by its experienced management team with their strong expertise, leadership and organizing 
ability, the Group shall seek to reinforce its relationships with existing customers, and attend trade fairs in different regions 
to explore opportunities for cooperation with international and domestic brands that have potential for development. This 
will help develop new growth drivers for the Group’s business.



SITOY GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2015 11

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

For the retail operation, the Group will continue its efforts to enhance product design and promote the TUSCAN’S brand. 
Through flexible use of marketing channels, it will enhance the recognition and image of the TUSCAN’S brand in mainland 
China and Hong Kong. It will also drive the development of the retail business and increase the contribution of retail 
business to overall turnover. The Group plans to set up more TUSCAN’S brand image stores in both mainland China and 
Hong Kong, especially in Shanghai, Beijing and the southwestern region in order to enhance the brand value of TUSCAN’S. 
In addition, the Group has launched a self-developed new brand of travel luggage “Fashion & Joy” in September 2014. 
There would be some fine tuning to the strategy for the brand by adopting “online and offline” development model 
whereby it will diversify distribution channels while increasing sales through online channel with a view to boosting its 
market share.

As a leading manufacturer of high-end and luxury brands and small leather goods in the world, the Group will continue 
to step up research and development of and increase to invest on its products and technologies. Meanwhile, the Group 
will continue to press ahead with its two-pronged strategy of developing the manufacturing and retail businesses, and will 
reinforce its retail business under the TUSCAN’S brand. Besides, with production technology of handle and hard case, the 
Group will develop itself into one of a few manufacturers and retailers with the capability for producing both travel goods 
and handbag leather goods.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express heartfelt thanks to the shareholders, clients, suppliers, customers 
and other parties for their steadfast support for the Group, and to my fellow Board members, management team and all 
staff members for their hard work. Sitoy Group will aspire to higher achievements in order to bring greater returns to the 
shareholders.

Yeung Michael Wah Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong
14 September 2015
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Manufacturing business
The Group mainly engages in the manufacture of handbags, small leather goods and travel goods under its high-end and 
luxury brands for customers.

For the year ended 30 June 2015, the purchase orders the Group received from its customers decreased 13.4% to HK$3,272 
million compared with that for the previous financial year.

During the year under review, international brands became more selective about which suppliers to appoint and what 
products to source amidst the uncertain global economy. Competition in manufacturing business nowadays is not only 
limited to the suppliers in Mainland China but also extends as far as the Southeast Asian countries. In order to stay viable 
in the highly competitive manufacturing industry, the Group spared no effort to upgrade its production technology and 
enhance the supply chain for sourcing materials. With its consistent guarantee of attentive services, quality products 
and punctual delivery, the Group continued to gain loyalty and trust from its existing customers. In order to expand its 
customer base, the Group also allocated more resources and efforts to identify and cultivate new customers.

In light of the fierce competition in the global luxury handbag market, leading brands kept launching new and sophisticated 
products to cater for different customers. Leveraging its inherent competitive advantages, high level of craftsmanship and 
well developed supply chain, the Group is able to adapt to the ever-changing market demand and fashion trends.

During the year, the Group utilized the production lines of its retractable luggage handle system and hard case to diversify 
into goods for business and travel. In the business segment of goods for travel, the Group has successfully established 
business partnerships with major customers in both the international and Mainland China markets. In addition to the 
traditional markets in the United States and Europe, the Group also focused on markets in Greater China and Russia, where 
its business has already been gradually established. As a result, revenue at the segment of goods for business and travel 
doubled year-on-year. The Group has plans to increase the proportion of high-end and luxury travel goods sales in its total 
revenue.

In view of the uncertainties in the operating environment and the keen competition in the manufacturing industry, the 
Group expects that the coming year will continue to be difficult. To gear up for the challenges, the Group will strengthen its 
core competitive advantages in order to bring in more international high-end and luxury brands.

Retail business
The Group engages in retail business mainly through the operation of retail shops in both Mainland China and Hong Kong 
under the brand name TUSCAN’s. Its retail business achieved encouraging results during the year. Revenue surged 36.6% 
year on year to HK$108.5 million which was primarily driven by the increase in the total number points of sales. At the 
same time, same-stores sales grew by a single digit percentage for the fiscal year of 2015 despite the soft retail markets in 
both Mainland China and Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group increased the market penetration of its products in the same cities which were covered by its 
existing retail network and greatly improved the efficiency of its store operation and management. The Group further 
adjusted the proportions of its department stores and stand-alone retail stores and opened 14 new stand-alone stores 
during the year. As at the end of the reporting period, the Group owned and operated 81 retail outlets, of which 22 were 
stand-alone retail stores and 59 were concession counters in department stores. Its network of retail stores covered Beijing, 
Shanghai, Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Hong Kong, Chongqing, Chengdu, Nanjing and Wuhan. The Group has adopted a more 
prudent approach to the development of its sales network and the opening of new stores by emphasizing the quality of 
individual stores and overall mixture of stores.
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The Group has expanded its product mix to include such accessories as fashion jewelry, scarf and sun glasses, offering more 
choices to its customers as well as building a more trendy image.

In the coming year, the Group will continue to put emphasis on opening more stand-alone stores. It will continue to invest 
in TUSCAN’S branding in Mainland China and Hong Kong through different media channels.

The retail business development was funded with the proceeds from the initial public offering.

Manufacturing facilities
For the year ended 30 June 2015, the Group operated around 196 production lines and maintained stable production 
capacity. The Group’s production scale and efficiency enabled it to meet its customers’ dynamic requirements. The Group 
continued to upgrade its machinery and equipment during the year in order to enhance the operational efficiency.

These investments were funded with the proceeds from the initial public offering.

PRODUCT RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN
The Group’s in-house Creative Centre and R&D Centre offer its customers a one-stop solution to design, research, 
development and manufacturing, which helps it to adapt promptly to the fast-changing consumer preferences and fashion 
trends. They also enable the Group to develop and manufacture products with complex designs.

By offering customers value-added services and first-rate craftsmanship, the Group will be able to enhance its 
competitiveness in the industry, and thus attract and retain leading international high-end and luxury brands as its 
customers.

THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING (“IPO”)
The Group raised HK$718.2 million from its listing in December 2011. The following table sets forth the status of use of 
proceeds from IPO:

Used up to
IPO proceeds 30 June 2015 Unused balance

HK$’ million Percentage HK$’ million HK$’ million

Second phase of Yingde manufacturing facility 251.4 35% 149.5 101.9
Upgrading of machinery and tooling in existing 

manufacturing facilities 143.6 20% 51.9 91.7
Expansion of retail business 251.4 35% 208.0 43.4
Working capital 71.8 10% 71.8 –     

718.2 100% 481.2 237     



SITOY GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2015 15

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
Revenue of the Group represents proceeds from sale of handbags, small leather goods and travel goods to high-end and 
luxury brand customers and sale of the TUSCAN’S branded products through the retail stores in the Mainland China and 
Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue decreased by 12.4% to HK$3,380.4 million for the year ended 30 June 2015 from HK$3,856.8 
million for the year ended 30 June 2014. This decrease was primarily due to decrease in demand from the high-end and 
luxury brand customers. However, the increase in retail segment sales offset some of the impact.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales of the Group decreased by 12.5% to HK$2,497.8 million for the year ended 30 June 2015 from HK$2,853.3 
million for the year ended 30 June 2014. This decrease was consistent with the decrease in revenue.

Gross profit and gross profit margin
Gross profit decreased by 12.0% to HK$882.6 million for the year ended 30 June 2015 from HK$1,003.5 million for the 
year ended 30 June 2014. Gross profit margin remained stable at 26.1% for the year ended 30 June 2015 compared with 
26.0% for the year ended 30 June 2014.

Selling and distribution expenses
Selling and distribution expenses increased by 21.3% to HK$161.1 million for the year ended 30 June 2015 from 
HK$132.8 million for the year ended 30 June 2014. The increase was primarily due to further expansion of retail business.

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses slightly increased by 3.5% to HK$265.4 million for the year ended 30 June 2015 from HK$256.5 
million for the year ended 30 June 2014. The increase was mainly due to further expansion of retail business.

Income tax expenses
Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to tax on its income 
or capital gains. In addition, any payments of dividends are not subject to withholding tax in the Cayman Islands or the 
British Virgin Islands.

Hong Kong profits tax as applicable to the Group was 16.5% for the year ended 30 June 2015 and 2014 on the estimated 
assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong during the relevant year.

PRC corporate income tax was based on a statutory rate of 25% of the assessable profit of all the subsidiaries incorporated 
in the PRC as determined in accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, which was approved and became 
effective on 1 January 2008.

The effective tax rate of the Group was 18.9% for the year ended 30 June 2015 (30 June 2014: 18.7%).

Profit for the year
Profit for the year decreased by HK$92.4 million to HK$411.9 million for the year ended 30 June 2015 from HK$504.3 
million for the year ended 30 June 2014. As a percentage of revenue, profit decreased to 12.2% for the year ended 30 June 
2015 from 13.1% for the year ended 30 June 2014.
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Capital expenditure
For the year ended 30 June 2015, the capital expenditure of the Group amounted to HK$50.3 million, primarily related to 
the construction of Yingde second phase manufacturing facilities, upgrading existing manufacturing facilities in Dongguan 
and Yingde as well as expansion of retail business.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies
The Group had no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies during the year ended 30 
June 2015.

The Group disposed of a subsidiary called Dongguan Sitoy Leather Products Company Limited during the year ended 
30 June 2014. The consideration for the transaction was HK$0.5 million and the gain on disposal of the subsidiary was 
HK$2.5 million.

Liquidity and financial resources
The liquidity and financial resources position remains strong as the Group continues to adopt a prudent approach in 
managing its financial resources. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents as at 30 June 2015 amounted to HK$1,322.6 
million (30 June 2014: HK$1,362.4 million). The Group has sufficient financial resources and a strong cash position for 
satisfying working capital requirements for business development, operations and capital expenditure. New investment 
opportunities, if any, would be funded by the Group’s internal resources.

The outstanding bank and other borrowings were nil as at 30 June 2015 (30 June 2014: nil), and accordingly no gearing 
ratio as at 30 June 2015 was presented (30 June 2014: not applicable).

Foreign exchange risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units in 
currencies other than the units’ functional currency. During the year ended 30 June 2015, 96.6% (30 June 2014: 97.9%) of 
the Group’s sales were denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the operating units making the sale, 
whilst approximately 41.3% (30 June 2014: 45.5%) of costs were denominated in the units’ functional currency.

As at 30 June 2015 and 2014, the Group did not have any outstanding foreign exchange forward contract.

Pledge of assets
As at 30 June 2015, HK$23.2 million of time deposits were pledged as security for banking facilities available to the Group 
(30 June 2014: HK$22.9 million).

Inventory turnover days
Inventory turnover days increased to 57 days for the year ended 30 June 2015 from 46 days for the year ended 30 June 
2014, as the Group keeps higher inventory level for expected high turnover in 1st quarter of fiscal year 2015/2016 and 
lower cost of sales due to lower turnover in fiscal year 2014/2015 compared with fiscal year 2013/2014.

Trade receivables turnover days
Trade receivables turnover days slightly increased to 32 days for the year ended 30 June 2015 compared with 29 days for 
the year ended 30 June 2014. The increase in turnover days was mainly due to lower turnover in fiscal year 2014/2015 
compared with fiscal year 2013/2014. The Group did not experience any significant credit risk due to strict credit control 
policies.
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Trade payables turnover days
Trade payables turnover days increased to 53 days for the year ended 30 June 2015 compared with 34 days for the 
year ended 30 June 2014. The increase was mainly due to increased purchase of raw material for increased orders from 
customers in 1st quarter of fiscal year 2015/2016. Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled within 
90 days.

Off-balance sheet commitments and arrangements and contingent liabilities
As at 30 June 2015, the Group did not have any material off-balance sheet commitments and arrangements. Save as 
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, the Group did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2015.

EMPLOYEES
As at 30 June 2015, the Group had over 13,000 employees. In addition to the basic salaries, performance bonuses will be 
offered to those staff members with outstanding performance. The PRC subsidiaries of the Company are entitled to social 
insurance, provident housing fund and certain other employee benefits in accordance with PRC laws and regulations and 
adhere to both statutory employment standards and those requested by customers, such as minimum wage levels and 
maximum working hours. Moreover, the Group provides staff quarters for most of its employees and, in case of certain 
senior employees, family quarters. The Group also provides various amenities and recreation facilities such as canteen, 
sports site, library and internet centre for the employees. In addition, share options may be granted to certain eligible 
directors and employees of the Group as incentive in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme adopted by 
the Company. The Group will continue to improve the working environment in the manufacturing facilities and the living 
facilities for the employees. The Directors believe that the compensation packages and fringe benefits offered by the Group 
to its staff members are competitive in comparison with market standards and practices.

Since human resource management is an important factor in maintaining and further enhancing the Group’s strong expertise 
and know-how in the craftsmanship of handbags, small leather goods and travel goods, the in-house employee training 
centre will provide pre-job training programs to the new recruits before they are assigned to work at the manufacturing 
facilities of the Group. From time to time, different levels of on-the-job training will be provided to the employees to 
broaden their skills and enhance their productivity.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yeung Michael Wah Keung, aged 66, is an executive Director, the Chairman, a member of remuneration committee 
and the chairman of nomination committee of the Company. He was appointed as a Director on 21 February 2008. He 
has been with the Group since its establishment in the 1970’s and is one of the founders. He is responsible for the Group’s 
overall business development, strategic planning and corporate management.

He has over 40 years of experience in the handbag and leather goods industry, and has focused on manufacturing luxury 
branded handbags and small leather goods for more than 10 years. He is currently a director of each subsidiary of the 
Group. He is the brother of Mr. Yeung Wo Fai, an executive Director, the chief executive officer and a substantial 
shareholder of the Company. He is also the father of Mr. Yeung Andrew Kin, an executive Director of the Company. He is 
also a substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

Mr. Yeung Wo Fai, aged 62, is an executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company. He was appointed as 
a Director on 21 February 2008 and is also one of the founders. He has been with the Group since 1974. He is responsible 
for the overall daily operations of the Group’s business. He is also responsible for product development, marketing and 
administration of the Group.

He has over 37 years of experience in the handbag and leather goods industry, and has focused on manufacturing luxury 
branded handbags and small leather goods for more than 10 years. He is currently a director of each subsidiary of the 
Group. He is the brother of Mr. Yeung Michael Wah Keung, an executive Director, the Chairman and a substantial 
shareholder of the Company. He is also the uncle of Mr. Yeung Andrew Kin, an executive Director of the Company. He is 
also a substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

Mr. Chan Ka Dig Adam, aged 46, is an executive Director and head of sales and marketing of the Company. He is in charge 
of the sales and marketing division of the Group. He joined the Group in May 1989 and was appointed as a Director on 
23 May 2011. He is responsible for the Group’s sales and marketing, merchandising and customer relationship with the 
international high-end and luxury brand companies.

He has over 26 years of experience in the handbag and leather goods industry, and has experience in sales and marketing 
with luxury brand companies for more than 10 years. He has held various positions in the Group in relation to sales and 
marketing and merchandising prior to becoming the head of sales and marketing in 2004.

Mr. Yeung Andrew Kin, aged 41, is an executive Director and head of retail of the Company. He is in charge of the retail 
business of the Group. He joined the Group in September 1999 and was appointed as a Director on 23 May 2011. He is 
responsible for the Group’s overall operations and strategic planning of the retail business. He is also responsible for the 
corporate management and business development of the retail business of the Group. He graduated from Simon Fraser 
University, British Columbia, Canada with a bachelor’s degree of science in 1999.
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He has over 16 years of experience in handbag and leather goods industry and has focused on strategic planning and 
business development for more than 10 years. Before he started focusing on the development of the retail business, he had 
held various positions in the Group in relation to sales and marketing and merchandising. He is currently a director of 東
莞時代皮具製品廠有限公司 (Dongguan Shidai Leather Products Factory Co., Ltd.), 時代（英德）皮具製品有限公司 (Sitoy 
(Yingde) Leather Products Co., Ltd.), 時代（英德）箱包製品有限公司 (Sitoy (Yingde) Luggage Co., Ltd.) and 廣州美樂時
皮具有限公司 (Guangzhou Sitoy Leather Goods Company Limited), all of which are subsidiaries of the Company. He is 
the son of Mr. Yeung Michael Wah Keung, an executive Director, the Chairman and the substantial shareholder of the 
Company. He is also the nephew of Mr. Yeung Wo Fai, an executive Director, the chief executive officer and the substantial 
shareholder of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat, aged 45, is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of audit committee and a member of 
remuneration committee of the Company. He was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 November 
2011. He graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree of business administration and obtained a 
master’s degree in professional accounting with distinction from Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

He possesses extensive experience in auditing, corporate restructuring and corporate finance. He worked at a major 
international accounting firm for over 10 years. He is a founding member and deputy president of the Hong Kong 
Independent Non-executive Director Association and is currently the president of the International Financial Management 
Association Hong Kong headquarters, the council member of Hong Kong Wine Chamber of Commerce, the Greater China 
Development Working Committee member of The Association of Hong Kong Accountants and the financial controller 
and company secretary of Dynasty Fine Wines Group Limited (stock code: 828), a company listed on the Main Board of 
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He is also an independent non-executive director 
of Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1991), ANTA Sports Products Limited (stock code: 2020), Boer Power 
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1685) and KFM Kingdom Holdings Limited (stock code: 3816), all of these companies are 
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants, an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, a Certified 
Public Accountant practicing in Hong Kong and a senior international finance manager of the International Financial 
Management Association.

Mr. Kwan Po Chuen, Vincent, aged 56, is an independent non-executive Director, a member of audit committee and 
nomination committee of the Company. He was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 November 
2011. He graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in social sciences in 1983, from the 
University of London with a bachelor’s degree in laws in 1987, from the University of Hong Kong with a master’s degree in 
laws in 1992, from the University of London with a master’s degree of science in financial management in 1998 and from 
the University of South Australia with a master’s degree in advanced business practice in 2006.
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He has more than 30 years of experience in the legal and accounting profession with extensive experience in real estate, 
corporate finance and compliance matters. From 1983 to 1987, he worked as an accounting officer and later auditor of the 
Treasury and Audit Departments of the Hong Kong government and from 1988 to 1993, he worked as trainee solicitor and 
associate of Deacons. From 1993 to 1996, he was an executive director of Chuang’s Consortium International Limited (stock 
code: 367), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From 1997 to 2012, he was the general manager 
(legal and secretarial) of Sino Land Company Limited (stock code: 83), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange. From 2012 to 2015, he was the consultant of Messrs. Gallant Y T Ho & Co. He is currently a consultant of 
Messrs. LCP Lawyers.

He is a solicitor qualified in Hong Kong since September 1990. He is also qualified to practise laws in England and 
Australia since 1991. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He has also served as a member of the board of review 
(Inland Revenue Ordinance) from 2003 to 2011 and as a member of the then insider dealing tribunal from 2005 to 2009 
and as a member of the advisory group on company formation, registration, re-registration and company meeting and 
administration provisions of the rewrite of Companies Ordinance from 2006 to 2009. He is also a member of both the 
company law committee and revenue law committee of the Law Society of Hong Kong. In 2014, he was appointed as the 
Chairman of the Financial and Regulatory Affairs Committee of the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies. He has 
also written many articles that were published in Momentum, the official magazine of the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed 
Companies. He is also a regular speaker on corporate finance and compliance matters. Mr Kwan is also a council member 
of the Hong Kong Independent Non-executive Director Association and the co-chairman of its Regulatory Committee.

Mr. Lung Hung Cheuk, aged 68, is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of remuneration committee, 
a member of audit committee and nomination committee of the Company. He was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 15 November 2011. He is a retired chief superintendent of the Hong Kong Police Force. He joined 
the Hong Kong Police Force in 1966 as a probationary inspector at the age of 19. He was promoted to the rank of chief 
inspector in 1980, superintendent in 1986, senior superintendent in 1993 and chief superintendent in 1997. He had served 
in various police posts, namely Special Branch, Police Tactical Unit, Police Public Relations Branch and in a number of 
police divisions at management level. Prior to his retirement in April 2002, he was the commander of Sham Shui Po Police 
District.

He was also the secretary of the Superintendents’ Association of the Hong Kong Police Force from 1993 and later the 
chairman from 1998 to 2001. The membership of the Superintendents’ Association comprises the top management of the 
Hong Kong Police Force from superintendents to chief superintendents of the Hong Kong Police Force. He was awarded the 
Police Meritorious Service Medal by the Chief Executive of Hong Kong in 2000.

He is currently an independent non-executive director of Winfull Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Richfield 
Group Holdings Limited, stock code: 183), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an 
independent non-executive director of iOne Holdings Limited (stock code: 982), a company listed on the Main Board of the 
Stock Exchange, from 18 September 2009 to 21 July 2014. He was also an independent non-executive director of Yunbo 
Digital Synergy Group Limited (formerly known as FlexSystem Holdings Limited, stock code: 8050), a company listed on 
the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange, from 7 May 2011 to 17 February 2012.
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The Directors of the Company are pleased to present the annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of 
the Group for the year ended 30 June 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company and the principal activities of the Group are design, research, development, 
manufacturing, sales and retailing of handbags, small leather goods and travel goods. Particulars of the principal activities 
of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
30 June 2015.

RESULTS, DIVIDEND, RECORD DATE AND PAYMENT DATE
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2015 are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income on page 40.

An interim dividend of HK10 cents was paid on 17 April 2015. The Directors recommended the payment of a final 
dividend of HK13 cents (30 June 2014: HK18 cents) per share for the year ended 30 June 2015 to the shareholders whose 
names appeared on the register of members of the Company on 25 November 2015. The final dividend, subject to approval 
by the shareholders at the annual general meeting to be held on 16 November 2015 (the “2015 AGM”), will be paid on or 
before 11 December 2015.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The register of members of the Company will be closed on 24 November 2015 and 25 November 2015 (both days 
inclusive), during which no share transfer will be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all 
completed transfer documents, accompanied by relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s Hong 
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited (the “Hong Kong 
Branch Registrar”), at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for 
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 23 November 2015.

RECORD DATE FOR 2015 AGM
The record date for determining shareholders of the Company who will be entitled to attend the 2015 AGM will be at the 
close of business on 11 November 2015. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2015 AGM, all completed transfer 
documents, accompanied by relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Hong Kong Branch Registrar at the address 
stated above, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 11 November 2015.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 98 
of the annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES 
OF THE COMPANY
Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2015 are set out in note 26 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
during the year ended 30 June 2015.
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year and distributable reserves of the 
Company as at 30 June 2015 are set out on page 42 to the consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 27 to the 
consolidated financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association and the Companies Law of the 
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS
Details of movements during the year in property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments of the Group are 
set out in notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest customers to the total revenue of the Group was 78.2% 
for the year ended 30 June 2015. The percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer to the total 
revenue of the Group was 53.4% for the year ended 30 June 2015.

The percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers to the total purchases of the Group was 
35.4% for the year ended 30 June 2015. The percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier to the 
total purchases of the Group was 10.7% for the year ended 30 June 2015.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder who owns more 
than 5% of the Company’s share capital had an interest in any of the major customers or suppliers above.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Yeung Michael Wah Keung (Chairman)

Mr. Yeung Wo Fai (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chan Ka Dig Adam
Mr. Yeung Andrew Kin

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat
Mr. Kwan Po Chuen, Vincent
Mr. Lung Hung Cheuk

In accordance with article 16.18(B) of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Yeung Michael Wah Keung, Mr. Chan Ka 
Dig Adam, Mr. Kwan Po Chuen, Vincent retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors of the Company 
as regards their independence to the Company and considers that each of the independent non-executive Directors of the 
Company is independent to the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is 
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory obligation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 30 June 2015, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant 
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to 
have under such provisions of the SFO) or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were as follows:

Long positions

Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of interest

Number of 
ordinary shares 

interested

Percentage of 
the Company’s 

issued shares

Mr. Yeung Michael Wah Keung Beneficial owner/personal interest 434,720,000 43.41%
Mr. Yeung Wo Fai Beneficial owner/personal interest 234,080,000 23.37%

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2015, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had registered an 
interest or a short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or 
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or recorded in the register required to be maintained by the Company 
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notifiable to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model 
Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
As at 30 June 2015, so far as the Directors were aware, no person (other than the Directors or chief executive of the 
Company as disclosed above) had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded 
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
As at 30 June 2015, none of the Directors had any interest in any business which competes or may compete with the 
business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
No Director has or had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the 
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended 30 
June 2015.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in the information of the Directors of the Company since the date 
of the last Interim Report are set out below:

Mr. Yeung Chi Tat is a founding member and deputy president of the Hong Kong Independent Non-executive Director 
Association. He was appointed an independent non-executive director of KFM Kingdom Holdings Limited (stock code: 
3816) on 7 September 2015.

Mr. Kwan Po Chuen, Vincent is a council member of the Hong Kong Independent Non-executive Director Association and 
the co-chairman of its Regulatory Committee.

Director’s Emoluments
Starting from 1 April 2015, the monthly salaries and allowance of executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yeung Michael Wah 
Keung, Mr. Yeung Wo Fai, Mr. Chan Ka Dig Adam and Mr. Yeung Andrew Kin, were adjusted from HK$322,000, 
HK$289,820, HK$112,500 and HK$112,500 to HK$331,660, HK$298,520, HK$115,880 and HK$115,880 respectively. 
Starting from 1 April 2015, the director’s fee and each of Mr. Kwan Po Chuen, Vincent, Mr. Lung Hung Cheuk and Mr. 
Yeung Chi Tat were adjusted from HK$200,000 to HK$220,000 per annum. Their emoluments and director’s fees were 
approved by the remuneration committee and the Board (as the case may be).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
A share option scheme was approved and adopted on 15 November 2011 (the “Share Option Scheme”) to provide the 
Company with a flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits 
to the participants of the scheme. No share options were granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled by the Company under the 
Share Option Scheme during the period from the date of its adoption to 30 June 2015. There were no outstanding share 
options under the Share Option Scheme at the beginning and at the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2015.

The Board may, at its discretion, invite any Directors (excluding independent non-executive Directors), any senior managers 
or any employees (whether full-time or part-time) of each member of the Group provided that the Board shall have absolute 
discretion to determine whether or not one falls within the above categories; (together, the “Participants” and each a 
“Participant”), to take up options to subscribe for Shares at a price determined. In determining the basis of eligibility of 
each Participant, the Board would take into account such factors as the Board may at its discretion consider appropriate.

The total number of shares, which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme 
and any other share option scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue 
immediately following completion of the Global Offering and the Capitalization Issue (as defined in the prospectus issued 
by the Company on 24 November 2011), unless the Company obtains a prior approval from its shareholders. The options 
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating such 
10% limit.
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The limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be 
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of 
total number of the shares in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any 
other share option schemes of the Company (or its subsidiary) if this will result in such limit being exceeded.

As at the date of this report, a total of 99,840,000 shares (representing approximately 9.97% of the existing issued shares 
of the Company) may be issued upon exercise of all options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in general meeting in the manner stipulated in the Listing Rules, the 
maximum entitlement for any one Participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period 
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.

Where the Board proposes to grant any option to a Participant who is a substantial shareholder of the Company, or any 
of his/her/its respective associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already 
granted and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company (including 
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to him/her/it in the 12-month period up to and including the proposed offer 
date of such grant (the “Relevant Date”): (a) representing in aggregate more than 0.1% of the total number of shares in 
issue on the Relevant Date; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the Relevant Date in excess of HK$5,000,000, such proposed grant of options must 
be approved by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

The period under which an option must be exercised shall be such period as the Board may in its absolute discretion 
determine at the time of grant, save that such period shall not be longer than ten years from the date on which an offer 
is made to the Participant pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. The minimum period for which an option must be held 
before it can be exercised is determined by the Board upon the grant of an option. The amount payable upon acceptance of 
an offer of the grant of an option is HK$1.00. The full amount of the exercise price for the subscription of shares must be 
paid upon exercise of an option.

The subscription price in respect of each share issued pursuant to the exercise of the options granted under the Share Option 
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified to a Participant and shall be at least the highest of: (a) 
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer date; (b) a price being the 
average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the 5 business days 
immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the nominal value of a share. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and 
effective for a period of 10 years commencing on 15 November 2011.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. Under Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules, the Directors’ service contracts with the Group are fully exempt continuing connected transactions.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest 
practicable date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float of not less than 25% of 
its shares in the hands of the public throughout the financial year under review and up to the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the significant events after the end of the reporting period of the Group are set out in note 36 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this 
report.

AUDITORS
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditors of the 
Company to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Sitoy Group Holdings Limited

Yeung Michael Wah Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 September 2015
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The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate governance practices and procedures with a view to 
being a transparent and responsible organization which is open and accountable to the shareholders of the Company. The 
Board strives to adhere to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted sound corporate governance practices 
to meet the legal and commercial standards, focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and accountability 
to all shareholders of the Company to ensure the transparency and accountability of all operations of the Company. The 
Company believes that effective corporate governance is an essential factor to create more value for the shareholders of the 
Company. The Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance practices of the Group from time to 
time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board in order to optimize return for the shareholders of the Company.

ADOPTION AND COMPLIANCE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board adopted a set of corporate governance practices which aligns with or is more restrictive than the requirements 
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), contained in Appendix 14 to the  Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Board is of 
the view that the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code for the year ended 30 June 2015.

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as 
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct governing securities transactions by the Directors.

Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors and all Directors have confirmed that they had fully complied with the 
required standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 30 June 2015.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance 
with written guidelines on no less exacting terms than those in the Model Code.

No incident of non-compliance with these guidelines by the relevant employees was noted by the Company during the year 
under review.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises seven Directors, consisting of four executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

Biographical information of the Directors and the details of the composition of the Board are set out below and in the 
Corporate Information, Directors’ Profile and Directors’ Report respectively of this Annual Report.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the management. Both the Board and the management have 
clearly defined authorities and responsibilities under various internal control and check-and-balance mechanisms.

The Board monitors the development and financial performance and sets strategic directions of the Group’s business.

Matters including material investment decisions, approving financial statements, declaration of dividend, are reserved 
to the Board. The management implements the Board’s decisions, makes business proposals and reports to the Board on 
the overall performance of the Group. Daily operations and administration of the business are delegated to the executive 
Directors and the management of the Company.
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During the year, four physical Board meetings were held. Among others, the following key issues were discussed in the
Board meetings:

– considered and approved the annual results and report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2014;

– considered and discussed the quarter results of the Group for three months ended 30 September 2014;

– considered and approved the interim results and report of the Group for the six months ended 31 December 2014; 
and

– considered and discussed the quarter results of the Group for nine months ended 31 March 2015.

At least 14 days’ notice of a regular Board meeting is given to all Directors to provide them with an opportunity to 
attend and all Directors are given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. Board papers 
are dispatched to the Directors at least three days before the meeting to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the 
papers and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Chairman conducts the proceedings of the Board at all Board meetings. He ensures that sufficient time is allocated for 
discussion and consideration of each item on the agenda and that equal opportunities are given to the Directors to speak 
and express their views and share their concerns. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary, who is responsible 
for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied with and for advising the Board on compliance matters.

During the year, the respective attendances of the Directors at the above Board meetings and the annual general meeting 
held on 17 November 2014 are set out in the table below:

Attendance   

Name of Directors Board Meetings
Annual 

General Meeting

Executive Directors
Yeung Michael Wah Keung 4/4 ✓

Yeung Wo Fai 4/4 ✓

Chan Ka Dig Adam 4/4 ✓

Yeung Andrew Kin 4/4 ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors
Yeung Chi Tat 4/4 ✓

Kwan Po Chuen, Vincent 4/4 ✓

Lung Hung Cheuk 4/4 ✓

The Company has received confirmations of independence from all independent non-executive Directors pursuant to rule 
3.13 of the Listing Rules. All of them meet the independence criteria set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Thus, the 
Board considers that they are independent.
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The Company has also received confirmation from all Directors that they have given sufficient time and attention to the 
affairs of the Company for the year. Directors have disclosed to the Company the number and nature of offices held in 
Hong Kong or overseas listed public companies or organizations and other significant commitments, with the identity of the 
public companies or organizations and an indication of the time involved.

Except for the family relationship between Mr. Yeung Michael Wah Keung, Mr. Yeung Wo Fai and Mr. Yeung Andrew Kin 
as disclosed in Directors’ Profile on pages 18 to 20 of this report, there is no financial, business, family or other material or 
relevant relationship between Board members.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING
During the year, all Directors participated in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge 
and skills by attending in-house briefings, attending training, giving talks and reading materials on topics relevant to the 
business of the Company and the director duties and responsibilities, etc. The Directors had provided to the Company their 
records of training received. The areas of training received by each Director are set out in the table below.

Areas of Training  

Name of Directors

Corporate
strategy and

business

Law and
regulatory

compliance

Directors’
duties/

governance
 practices

Management/
human

resources

Executive Directors
Yeung Michael Wah Keung ✓ ✓

Yeung Wo Fai ✓ ✓ ✓

Chan Ka Dig Adam ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Yeung Andrew Kin ✓ ✓ ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors
Yeung Chi Tat ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Kwan Po Chuen, Vincent ✓ ✓

Lung Hung Cheuk ✓ ✓

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are held separately by Mr. Yeung Michael Wah Keung and Mr. 
Yeung Wo Fai. The Chairman is responsible in leading the Board for the overall development strategy of the Group. The 
Chief Executive Officer is delegated with the authorities to manage the day-to-day operation of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company pursuant to 
which each of them is appointed for service with the Company for a term of three years commencing on 6 December 
2014. Their terms of appointment shall be subject to the rotational retirement provision of the articles of association of the 
Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and to facilitate effective management, certain functions of the Board 
have been delegated by the Board to various Board committees, which review and make recommendations to the Board on 
specific areas. The Board has established a total of three Board committees, and details of which are set out below.

Each committee consists of Directors and has its terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees setting 
out their roles and the authority delegated to them by the Board have been posted on the designated website of the Stock 
Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at www.sitoy.com.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established an audit committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary 
duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal control system of the 
Group. The audit committee comprises Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (chairman), Mr. Kwan Po Chuen, Vincent and Mr. Lung Hung 
Cheuk, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors. The audit committee has reviewed and discussed the annual 
report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2015.

During the year, the audit committee had held two physical meetings. The respective attendances of the members of audit 
committee are presented as follows:

Members Attendance

Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (chairman) 2/2
Mr. Kwan Po Chuen, Vincent 2/2
Mr. Lung Hung Cheuk 2/2

During the year, the audit committee had performed the following duties:

– reviewed and commented on the annual results and report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2014;

– reviewed and commented on the interim results and report of the Group for the six months ended 31 December 2014;

– discussed with the external auditors about the financial matters of the Group, and reviewed their findings, 
recommendations and representations and the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system;

– discussed with the independent internal control reviewer about the internal control matters of the Group and reviewed 
the independent internal control reviewer’s findings and recommendations;

– reviewed and recommended the reappointment of the external auditors; and

– reviewed the arrangement for employees of the Group to raise concerns about possible impropriety in financial 
reporting, internal control and other matters.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company established a nomination committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The 
primary duties of the nomination committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors.

A member of the nomination committee shall abstain from voting and shall not be counted in the quorum of a meeting 
in respect of the resolution where he or any of his associates has any material interest, including the recommendation on 
nomination for appointment of such person as a Director. The nomination committee comprises the executive Director, Mr. 
Yeung Michael Wah Keung (chairman) and the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Kwan Po Chuen, Vincent and 
Mr. Lung Hung Cheuk.

During the year, the nomination committee had held one physical meeting. The respective attendance of the members of 
nomination committee is presented as follows:

Members Attendance

Mr. Yeung Michael Wah Keung (chairman) 1/1
Mr. Kwan Po Chuen, Vincent 1/1
Mr. Lung Hung Cheuk 1/1

During the year, the nomination committee had performed the following duties:

– reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and 
the board diversity policy, and made recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the 
Company’s corporate strategy;

– reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the renewal of services contracts of the executive Directors and 
letters of appointment of the independent non-executive Directors;

– assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and

– reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on re-election of retiring Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on 3 June 2013.

Below is the summary of the Board Diversity Policy:

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level 
as an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of 
differences in the skills, regional, industry experience, background, race, gender, culture, personality, work-style and other 
qualities of Directors. These differences will be considered in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when 
possible should be balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in the context of the skills and 
experience the Board as a whole requires to be effective.
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The nomination committee discusses annually the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board taking into 
account the Company’s business model and specific needs. During the year, the nomination committee reviewed the existing 
composition of the Board and highlighted the importance of maintaining an appropriate balance around the Board table 
through a diverse mix of skills, experience, knowledge and background to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. 
Gender diversity is a significant element of this. The Board is committed to ensuring that women have an equal chance with 
men of developing their careers with the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company established a remuneration committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The remuneration committee, with delegated responsibility, determines the remuneration package of individual executive 
Director and senior management of the Group and makes recommendations on the remuneration of non-executive 
Directors. The Board retains its power to determine the remuneration of non-executive Directors (including independent 
non-executive Directors).

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 
policies and structure of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management and to set up a formal and transparent 
procedure for determination of such remuneration policies. A member of the remuneration committee shall abstain from 
voting in respect of the resolution regarding the remuneration payable to him. The remuneration committee comprises 
the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Lung Hung Cheuk (chairman) and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat, and the executive 
Director, Mr. Yeung Michael Wah Keung.

During the year, the remuneration committee had held three physical meetings. The respective attendance of the members 
of remuneration committee is presented as follows:

Members Attendance

Mr. Lung Hung Cheuk (chairman) 3/3
Mr. Yeung Michael Wah Keung 3/3
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat 3/3

During the year, the remuneration committee had performed the following duties:

– reviewed and made recommendation on policy and structure for Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration;

– reviewed and approved the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate goals and objectives 
of the Board;

– reviewed and determined on the remuneration packages of individual executive Director and senior management, 
including the terms of services contracts of the executive Directors to be reviewed;

– reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on director’s fee of independent non-executive Directors for the 
fiscal year 2014/2015, including the terms of letters of appointment of the independent non-executive Directors to be 
reviewed;

– reviewed and approved year end bonus to the executive Directors; and

– reviewed and approved the salary package of the newly appointed chief financial officer of the Group.
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REMUNERATION POLICY
The remuneration of the employees and the Directors holding of offices of the Group were based on internal equity factors 
and external market conditions and will be reviewed from time to time.

The remuneration of the employees including executive Directors generally consists of:

– fixed salary/allowance – which is set according to the duties, responsibilities, skills, experiences and market influences;

– pension – which is based on the Mandatory Provident Fund Contribution Scheme or the local statutory pension 
scheme;

– short-term variable incentive – which may include commission, discretionary cash bonus depending on the 
achievement of short-term corporate objectives and/or personal targets;

– long-term variable incentive – which may include share options designed to encourage long-term commitment; and

– other benefits in kind – which may include accommodation, company car and related services.

The remuneration of independent non-executive Directors was fixed, payable on quarterly basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION
The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility of developing and maintaining sound and effective corporate 
governance within the Group and is committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is put in place to 
continuously review and improve the corporate governance practices within the Group in light of the evolving operating 
environment and regularity requirements.

The Board has undertaken the day-to-day responsibility for all corporate governance function of the Group. All members of 
the Board are responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out in the written terms of reference adopted 
by the Board.

During the year, the Board reviewed the Company’s policy and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements, the compliance with the CG Code for the year ended 30 June 2015 and disclosure of this corporate 
governance report, as well as the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors.

On 14 September 2015, the Board reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code for the year and disclosure in 
this Corporate Governance Report.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The remunerations in respect of audit and non-audit services for the year ended 30 June 2015 provided by the Company’s 
auditors, Ernst & Young, are as follows:

HK$’000

Audit services 2,400
Non-audit services 1,517  

Note: The non-audit services mainly represented the tax compliance service and other consulting service provided to the Group.

ACKNOWLEDGE OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Group. In preparing the 
financial statements for the financial year under review, the Directors have:

– based on a going concern basis;

– selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; and

– made judgments and estimates that were prudent, fair and reasonable.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in 
the Independent Auditors’ Report from pages 37 to 38 of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible for establishing, maintaining and reviewing an effective system of internal control and safeguarding 
the assets and the interests of the Group and the shareholders of the Company as well.

The Group has established policies and procedures for approval and control of expenditures. Pursuant to a risk-based 
methodology, the Board plans its internal control review with resources being focused on higher risk areas. Internal control 
review has been conducted on ongoing basis to ensure that the policies and procedures in place are adequate. Any findings 
and recommendations would be discussed by the management and followed up properly and timely.

The Directors had engaged SHINEWING Risk Services Limited to perform an independent review on the internal control 
systems of the Group. The review report showed that the Group maintained an adequate and effective internal control 
system and no major control deficiency had been identified. The scope and findings of the review had been reported to and 
reviewed by the audit committee.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining effective communication with the shareholders of the Company. The 
Company establishes various communication tools to ensure the shareholders of the Company are kept well informed of 
timely information of the Company. These include the annual general meeting, extraordinary general meetings, the annual 
and interim reports, announcements, circulars and notices. Such documents are accessible on the Company’s website at 
www.sitoy.com.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company has engaged and appointed Mr. Huen Po Wah, a representative from an external company secretarial 
services provider, as the company secretary of the Company. The primary contact person with the company secretary of the 
Company is Mr. Yeung Wo Fai, Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Huen has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours 
of relevant training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The Company has published its amended and restated memorandum and articles of association on the designated website of 
the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website. During the year, there was no alteration on the constitutional documents 
of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
(a) Procedures for convening of an extraordinary general meeting and putting forward proposals at 

shareholders’ meeting
Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the Company. Pursuant to the articles of association of 
the Company, (i) two or more shareholders who hold in aggregate not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the 
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company or (ii) any one shareholder which is a 
recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) and holds not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company 
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, may deposit a written request (the “Written 
Requisition”) at the head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company (at 4–5th Floor, The 
Genplas Building, 56 Hoi Yuen Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong) for attention of the Company Secretary 
to request the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting of the Company. The Written Requisition should 
state the full name of the requisitionist(s), the matter(s) and the proposed resolution(s) to be considered at the general 
meeting of the Company, and must be signed by all the requisitionist(s).

The Board shall consider the Written Requisition and, if thought fit, shall within 21 days from the date of deposit 
of the Written Requisition proceed to convene a general meeting to be held within such number of days in 
accordance with the articles of association of the Company and in compliance with the requirements of the Listing 
Rules. Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an annual general meeting of the Company and an 
extraordinary general meeting of the Company called for the passing of a special resolution shall be called by not 
less than 21 days’ notice in writing and any other extraordinary general meeting of the Company shall be called by 
not less than 14 days’ notice in writing. Pursuant to the CG Code, written notice of an annual general meeting of the 
Company and written notice of an extraordinary general meeting of the Company shall be sent by the Company to all 
Shareholders at least 20 clear business days and 10 clear business days respectively before the meeting. Business day 
under the Listing Rules means any day on which the Stock Exchange is open for business of dealing in securities.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the Written Requisition to convene a general 
meeting to be held within such number of days in accordance with the articles of association of the Company and in 
compliance with the Listing Rules, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-half 
of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, 
as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held 
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the Written Requisition, and all reasonable expenses 
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene a general meeting shall be reimbursed 
to them by the Company.
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(b) Procedures for members to propose a person for election as a director of the Company
The procedures for the shareholders of the Company to propose a person for election as a director of the Company 
are available and accessible on the Company’s website at www.sitoy.com.

(c) Procedures for directing enquires to the Company
To direct enquiries to the Board, the shareholders of the Company should submit his/her/its enquires in writing with 
contact details (including, your registered name, address and telephone number, etc.) to the Company Secretary at the 
following:

By post to the head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong at 4–5th Floor, The Genplas Building, 56 Hoi 
Yuen Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
Fax: (852) 2343 2808

(d) Matters relating to share registration
For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and registration, change of name and address of 
shareholders of the Company, loss of share certificates or dividend warrants, the shareholders of the Company can 
contact the Hong Kong share registrar and transfer office at the following:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2862 8555
Fax: (852) 2529 6087
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To the shareholders of Sitoy Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sitoy Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 39 to 97, which comprise the consolidated and company statements 
of financial position as at 30 June 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our report is 
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any 
other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company 
and of the Group as at 30 June 2015, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure 
requirements of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32).

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

14 September 2015
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Year ended 30 June 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 30 June   
2015 2014

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE 6 3,380,422 3,856,779
Cost of sales (2,497,831) (2,853,270)    

Gross profit 882,591 1,003,509

Other income and gains 6 53,539 19,040
Selling and distribution expenses (161,117) (132,769)
Administrative expenses (265,364) (256,492)
Other expenses (1,928) (13,034)    

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7 507,721 620,254

Income tax expense 10 (95,774) (116,000)    

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 411,947 504,254    

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 11 411,947 504,254    

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Basic and diluted (HK cents) 13 41.13 50.35    

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 30 June   
2015 2014

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 411,947 504,254    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Available-for-sale investment:
Changes in fair value – 36
Reclassification adjustment for loss in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss – loss on disposal – 364
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 7,947 (4,530)    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX 7,947 (4,130)    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 419,894 500,124    

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 11 419,894 500,124    
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30 June 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14 430,353 428,837
Prepaid land lease payments 15 19,594 19,924
Intangible asset 16 4,140 4,140
Deferred tax assets 17 18,023 17,084
Prepayments 21 346 108    

Total non-current assets 472,456 470,093    

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 19 434,611 299,024
Trade receivables 20 363,640 229,307
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 21 62,972 66,994
Pledged deposits 22 23,233 22,929
Cash and cash equivalents 22 1,322,589 1,362,362    

Total current assets 2,207,045 1,980,616    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 24 323,321 202,661
Other payables and accruals 25 120,413 120,256
Tax payable 112,638 147,295    

Total current liabilities 556,372 470,212    

NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,650,673 1,510,404    

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,123,129 1,980,497    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities 17 3,184 17    

Total non-current liabilities 3,184 17    

Net assets 2,119,945 1,980,480    

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 26 100,153 100,153
Reserves 27 1,889,593 1,700,051
Proposed final dividend 12 130,199 180,276    

Total equity 2,119,945 1,980,480    

Yeung Michael Wah Keung Yeung Wo Fai
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company   

Share
capital

Share
premium
account*

Merger
reserve*

Statutory
reserve

fund*

Exchange
fluctuation

reserve*
Retained

profits*
Proposed
dividend Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note 26) (note 27) (note 27) (note 27) (note 12)

At 1 July 2014 100,153 1,010,081 4,030 42,492 30,406 613,042 180,276 1,980,480
Profit for the year – – – – – 411,947 – 411,947
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations – – – – 7,947 – – 7,947         

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 7,947 411,947 – 419,894

2014 final dividend declared – – – – – – (180,276) (180,276)
Proposed 2015 interim dividend – – – – – (100,153) 100,153 –
2015 interim dividend declared – – – – – – (100,153) (100,153)
Proposed final 2015 dividend – – – – – (130,199) 130,199 –
Transfer from retained profits – – – 8,226 – (8,226) – –         

At 30 June 2015 100,153 1,010,081 4,030 50,718 38,353 786,411 130,199 2,119,945         



SITOY GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2015 43

Year ended 30 June 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company   

Share
capital

Share
premium
account*

Merger
reserve*

Statutory
reserve

fund*

Available-
for-sale

investment
revaluation

reserve*

Exchange
fluctuation

reserve*
Retained

profits*
Proposed
dividend Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note 26) (note 27) (note 27) (note 27) (note 12)

At 1 July 2013 100,153 1,010,081 4,030 32,610 (400) 34,936 399,099 160,245 1,740,754
Profit for the year – – – – – – 504,254 – 504,254
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Changes in fair value of an available-for-sale 
investment, net of tax – – – – 36 – – – 36

Reclassification adjustment for loss in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss
– loss on disposal – – – – 364 – – – 364

Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations – – – – – (4,530) – – (4,530)          

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 400 (4,530) 504,254 – 500,124

2013 final dividend declared – – – – – – – (160,245) (160,245)
Proposed interim 2014 dividend – – – – – – (100,153) 100,153 –
2014 interim dividend declared – – – – – – – (100,153) (100,153)
Proposed final 2014 dividend – – – – – – (180,276) 180,276 –
Transfer from retained profits – – – 9,882 – – (9,882) – –          

At 30 June 2014 100,153 1,010,081 4,030 42,492 – 30,406 613,042 180,276 1,980,480          

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$1,889,593,000 (30 June 2014: HK$1,700,051,000) in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Year ended 30 June 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 30 June   
2015 2014

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 507,721 620,254
Adjustments for:

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 6 – (2,478)
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 7 994 700
Depreciation 7 50,493 43,747
Amortization of prepaid land lease payments 7 459 457
Fair value loss, net:

Disposal of an available-for-sale investment 7 – 364
Impairment of trade receivables 7 504 –
Write-down of inventories to net realizable value 7 8,883 26,370    

569,054 689,414    

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (134,837) 144,431
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 4,022 (4,965)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (144,470) 50,728
Increase in trade payables 120,660 12,030
Increase in other payables and accruals 916 12,382    

Cash generated from operations 415,345 904,020    

Hong Kong profits tax paid (86,987) (22,069)
Mainland China income tax paid (41,303) (19,507)    

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 287,055 862,444    
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Year ended 30 June 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 30 June   
2015 2014

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of items of property, plant and equipment (50,203) (74,608)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 45 226
Disposal of an available-for-sale investment – 9,659
Disposal of a subsidiary – (118)    

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (50,158) (64,841)    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid (280,429) (260,398)
Increase in pledged deposits (304) (10,929)    

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (280,733) (271,327)    

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (43,836) 526,276

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,362,362 834,697
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 4,063 1,389    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 1,322,589 1,362,362    

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 22 597,119 861,163
Non-pledged deposits with original maturity of less than

three months when acquired 725,470 501,199    

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the statement of
financial position and in the statement of cash flows 22 1,322,589 1,362,362    
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30 June 2015

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Deferred tax assets 17 46 772
Investments in subsidiaries 18 430,000 430,000    

Total non-current assets 430,046 430,772    

CURRENT ASSETS
Deposits and other receivables 21 1,428 1,393
Amounts due from subsidiaries 23 218,475 251,850
Pledged deposit 22 12,934 12,850
Cash and cash equivalents 22 507,088 462,412    

Total current assets 739,925 728,505    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 25 824 669    

Total current liabilities 824 669    

NET CURRENT ASSETS 739,101 727,836    

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,169,147 1,158,608    

Net assets 1,169,147 1,158,608    

EQUITY
Share capital 26 100,153 100,153
Reserves 27 1,068,994 1,058,455    

Total equity 1,169,147 1,158,608    
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 21 February 
2008 under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The 
registered office address of the Company is Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 2804, Grand Cayman 
KY1-1112, Cayman Islands. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s controlling shareholders are Mr. Yeung 
Michael Wah Keung and Mr. Yeung Wo Fai.

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture, sale and retail of handbags, small leather goods and travel 
goods.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange”) on 6 December 2011.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) (which include all International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards 
(“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, accounting principles generally 
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, which because 
the Company has not early adopted the revised Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the 
“Listing Rules”) issued by the Stock Exchange, are those of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 
32). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for an available-for-
sale investment, which has been measured at fair value. The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars 
(“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 
2015. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date, on which the Group obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of 
the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries below. A change in 
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences 
recorded in equity; and recognizes (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment 
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the 
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial 
statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and IAS 27 (2011)

Investment Entities

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

Amendments to IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Amendments to IAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

Amendments to IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting

IFRIC Interpretation 21 Levies

Annual Improvements

2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to a number of IFRSs

Annual Improvements

2011-2013 Cycle

Amendments to a number of IFRSs

The adoption of the new and revised IFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these financial statements and 
there have been no significant changes to the accounting policies applied in these financial statements.

2.3 NEW AND REVISED IFRSs AND NEW DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER 
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE NOT YET ADOPTED
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in 
these financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments2

Amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or its 

Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and IAS 28 (2011)

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation and Exception1

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations1

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts3

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative1

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization1

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants1

Amendments to IAS 27 (2011) Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements1

Annual Improvements

2012-2014 Cycle

Amendments to a number of IFRSs1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
3 Effective for an entity that first adopts IFRSs for its annual financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 

and therefore is not applicable to the Group
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2.3 NEW AND REVISED IFRSs AND NEW DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER 
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE NOT YET ADOPTED (continued)
Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial instruments 
project to replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for 
classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1 July 
2018. The Group expects that the adoption of IFRS 9 will have an impact on the classification and measurement of 
the Group’s financial assets. Further information about the impact will be available nearer the implementation date of 
the standard.

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 
28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The 
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor 
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a 
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognized in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent 
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. 
The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group upon 
adoption on 1 July 2016.

The amendments to IFRS 11 require that an acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the 
joint operation constitutes a business must apply the relevant principles for business combinations in IFRS 3. The 
amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an 
additional interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been 
added to IFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the 
reporting entity, are under common control of the same ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both 
the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional interests in the same 
joint operation. The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the financial position or performance of the 
Group upon adoption on 1 July 2016.

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under 
IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured 
approach for measuring and recognizing revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative 
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance obligations, 
changes in contract asset and liability account balances between periods and key judgments and estimates. The 
standard will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRSs. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 
15 on 1 July 2017 and is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 upon adoption.
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2.3 NEW AND REVISED IFRSs AND NEW DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER 
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE NOT YET ADOPTED (continued)
Amendments to IAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements in respect of the presentation and disclosure in financial 
statements in five areas, including materiality, disaggregation and subtotals, notes structure, disclosure of accounting 
policies and presentation of items of other comprehensive income arising from equity accounted investments. The 
amendments further encourage entities to apply professional judgment in determining what information to disclose 
and how to structure the disclosure in the financial statements. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 
July 2016.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 clarify the principle in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of 
economic benefits that are generated from operating business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic 
benefits that are consumed through the use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot be used to 
depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortize intangible 
assets. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the 
financial position or performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 July 2016 as the Group has not used a revenue-
based method for the calculation of depreciation of its non-current assets.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control 
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the 
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends received 
and receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Fair value measurement
The Group measures its financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction 
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the 
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most 
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the 
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants 
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorization (based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets
When an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other 
than inventories, financial assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, 
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss 
is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that 
revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously 
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only 
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an 
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation/amortization) had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the 
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for 
that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary 
of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any 
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure 
incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, 
is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the 
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalized in the carrying amount of the asset 
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, 
the Group recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment 
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 2% to 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and estimated useful lives
Plant and machinery 10% to 331⁄3%
Office equipment 10% to 25%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated 
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the 
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognized is derecognized upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or 
retirement recognized in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognized is the difference between 
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, 
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalized borrowing costs on related 
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category 
of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed 
to be finite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and 
the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortized. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite 
life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the 
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalized and deferred only when the Group can 
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its 
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, 
the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the 
development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases
Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as 
operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating leases are included in non-
current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the 
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases, net of 
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the 
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognized on the 
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-
to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial investments, as appropriate. The Group determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are recognized initially, they are 
measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit 
or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, that is, the date that the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest 
rate. The effective interest rate amortization is included in other income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. 
The loss arising from impairment is recognized in the statement of profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in other 
expenses for receivables.

Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held 
to maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. Held-to-maturity 
investments are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance 
for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortization is included 
in other income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognized in the 
statement of profit or loss in other expenses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity securities. 
Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor 
designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held 
for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in 
market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with 
unrealized gains or losses recognized as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment revaluation 
reserve until the investment is derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognized in the statement 
of profit or loss in other income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or 
loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the statement of profit or loss in other 
gains or losses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments are reported as 
interest income and dividend income, respectively and are recognized in the statement of profit or loss as other income 
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range 
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates 
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost 
less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term 
are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive 
markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the ability and intention to hold 
the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of 
reclassification becomes its new amortized cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognized 
in equity is amortized to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any 
difference between the new amortized cost and the maturity amount is also amortized over the remaining life of the 
asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded 
in equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognized when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay 
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and 
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of 
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When 
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of 
the asset, the Group continues to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. 
In that case, the Group also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are 
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to 
repay.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of 
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or 
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and observable data 
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortized cost
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. 
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, 
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics 
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The 
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., 
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss 
is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying 
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring 
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no 
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced 
by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is 
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments
For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is 
objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal 
payment and amortization) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognized in the statement 
of profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive income and recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost 
of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where 
there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognized in the statement of profit or loss 
– is removed from other comprehensive income and recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses 
on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed through the statement of profit or loss. Increases 
in their fair value after impairment are recognized directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgment. In making this judgment, the Group 
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or 
loans and borrowings, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and accruals.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse 
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the 
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognized initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted 
for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
the Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially 
recognized less, when appropriate, cumulative amortization.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition 
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position 
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis 
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labor and an appropriate 
proportion of overheads. Net realizable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be 
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months 
when acquired.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, 
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions
A provision is recognized when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it 
is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognized for a provision is the present value at the end of 
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the 
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit 
or loss.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is 
recognized outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices 
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries when the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and 
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses can be utilized, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets 
are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognized 
to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Government grants
Government grants are recognized at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognized 
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue 
can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold; and

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, 
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Pension schemes
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) 
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its Hong Kong employees. Contributions are 
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they 
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately 
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with 
the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a central 
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute 14% of 
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as 
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Dividends
Final dividends distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s 
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles 
of association grant the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are 
recognized immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Company and non-Mainland China incorporated subsidiaries is HK$. The functional 
currency of the subsidiaries incorporated in Mainland China is Renminbi (“RMB”). The financial statements are 
presented in HK$, which is the Group’s presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities within the Group are initially recorded using their respective 
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. 
Differences arising on settlement or transaction of monetary items are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.

As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries incorporated in Mainland China are 
translated into HK$ at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit 
or loss are translated into HK$ at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences 
are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity. On disposal of 
a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of these entities are translated into HK$ 
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequent recurring cash flows of these entities which arise 
throughout the year are translated into HK$ at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompany 
disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result 
in outcomes that could require material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the 
future.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgment, apart 
from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 
statements:

Withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for withholding taxes from the distribution of dividends from 
subsidiaries in Mainland China according to the relevant tax jurisdictions is subject to judgment on the timing of the 
payment of the dividends. The Group considered that if it is probable that the profits of the subsidiaries in Mainland 
China will not be distributed in the foreseeable future, then no withholding taxes should be provided.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of 
each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times 
when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators 
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset 
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs to sell is based on available data from binding 
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental 
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the 
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

(ii) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and 
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result of technical innovations, 
or competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. Management will increase the depreciation charge 
where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write down technically obsolete 
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(iii) Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management judgment is required to determine 
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future 
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

(iv) Net realizable value of inventories
Net realizable value of an inventory is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal. These estimates are based on the current market condition 
and the historical experience of selling products of a similar nature which could change significantly as a result 
of changes in customer taste or competitor actions in response to severe consumer product industry cycles. 
Management reassesses these estimates at the end of the reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
(v) Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various regions. As a result of the fact that certain matters relating to 
the income taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective estimates and judgments based on 
currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required in determining the provision of 
corporate income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts originally 
recorded, the differences will impact the corporate income tax and tax provisions in the period in which the 
differences are realized. Further details are contained in note 10 to the financial statements.

4. PARTICULARS OF COMPANIES COMPRISING THE GROUP
Particulars of the companies comprising the Group at 30 June 2015 are set out below:

Name of company

Place and date of
incorporation/

registration and
place of operations

Issued ordinary/
registered

share capital

Percentage of
equity attributable to

the Company Principal
activitiesDirect Indirect

% %

Subsidiaries

Sitoy International Limited The British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”)

10 September 2010

US$1 100 – Investment holding

Sitoy Handbag Factory Limited BVI
23 May 2011

US$300 100 – Investment holding

Sitoy Investment International
Limited

BVI
23 May 2011

US$300 100 – Investment holding

Sitoy (Hong Kong) Handbag
Factory Limited

Hong Kong
9 July 1982

HK$4,000,000 – 100 Investment holding, 
trading of handbags, 
small leather goods and 
travel goods

Sitoy Company Limited Hong Kong
29 July 1986

HK$30,000 – 100 Investment holding, 
trading of handbags, 
small leather goods and 
travel goods
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Name of company

Place and date of
incorporation/

registration and
place of operations

Issued ordinary/
registered

share capital

Percentage of
equity attributable to

the Company Principal
activitiesDirect Indirect

% %

Sitoy Retailing Limited Hong Kong
21 September 2010

HK$5,000,000 – 100 Investment holding, trading 
and retail of handbags, 
small leather goods and 
travel goods

Dongguan Shidai Leather
Products Factory Co., Ltd.@

The People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”)/
Mainland China

13 July 1992

HK$60,000,000 – 100 Manufacture and sale of 
handbags, small leather 
goods and travel goods

Sitoy (Yingde) Leather Products
Co., Ltd.@

PRC/Mainland China
11 December 2006

HK$270,000,000 – 100 Manufacture and sale of 
handbags, small leather 
goods and travel goods

Sitoy (Yingde) Luggage Co., Ltd.@ PRC/Mainland China
30 May 2013

HK$70,000,000 – 100 Manufacture and sale of 
luggage and travel goods

Guangzhou Sitoy Leather Goods 
Company Limited*@

PRC/Mainland China
18 January 2011

HK$100,000,000 – 100 Retail of handbags, small 
leather goods and travel 
goods

* The English name of the Company’s subsidiary represents the translated name of the company as no English name has 
been registered.

@ These subsidiaries are registered as companies with limited liability under PRC law.

4. PARTICULARS OF COMPANIES COMPRISING THE GROUP (continued)
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on their products and services and has 
two reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Manufacturing: produces handbags, small leather goods and travel goods for branding and resale by others; and

(b) Retail: manufactures and retails handbags, small leather goods and travel goods for the brands owned by the 
Group.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable 
segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is 
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except corporate and unallocated expenses are excluded 
from this measurement.

Segment assets exclude unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group 
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties 
at the then prevailing market prices.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 30 June 2015  
Manufacturing Retail Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers 3,271,960 108,462 3,380,422
Intersegment sales 1,467 – 1,467    

3,273,427 108,462 3,381,889
Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment sales (1,467)    

Total revenue 3,380,422    

Segment results 515,859 (15,032) 500,827
Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated expenses 6,894    

Profit before tax 507,721    

Segment assets 2,088,280 158,333 2,246,613
Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment receivables (88,608)
Corporate and other unallocated assets 521,496    

Total assets 2,679,501    

Segment liabilities 530,336 117,004 647,340
Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment payables (88,608)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 824    

Total liabilities 559,556    

Other segment information:
Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment 42,949 7,544 50,493
Amortization of prepaid land lease payments 459 – 459
Write-down of inventories to net realizable value 8,357 526 8,883
Operating lease rentals 8,743 36,895 45,638
Capital expenditure* 35,500 14,808 50,308    
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 30 June 2014  
Manufacturing Retail Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers 3,777,419 79,360 3,856,779
Intersegment sales 3,499 – 3,499    

3,780,918 79,360 3,860,278
Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment sales (3,499)    

Total revenue 3,856,779    

Segment results 634,642 (13,806) 620,836
Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated expenses (582)    

Profit before tax 620,254    

Segment assets 1,911,451 102,553 2,014,004
Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment receivables (40,722)
Corporate and other unallocated assets 477,427    

Total assets 2,450,709    

Segment liabilities 463,354 46,928 510,282
Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment payables (40,722)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 669    

Total liabilities 470,229    

Other segment information:
Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment 38,602 5,145 43,747
Amortization of prepaid land lease payments 457 – 457
Write-down of inventories to net realizable value 24,371 1,999 26,370
Operating lease rentals 9,053 28,097 37,150
Capital expenditure* 79,265 5,863 85,128    

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment during the year.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue
North America 1,866,555 2,133,644
Europe 877,871 775,121
Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan 272,244 331,052
Other Asian countries 295,951 487,932
Others 67,801 129,030   

3,380,422 3,856,779   

The revenue information above is based on the region of the customers’ distribution centers to which the 
products were shipped.

(b) Non-current assets

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Mainland China and Hong Kong 454,433 453,009   

The non-current asset information above is based on the location of assets and excludes deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers
For the year ended 30 June 2015, revenue derived from sales by the manufacturing activities segment to a major 
customer amounting to HK$1,803,618,000 had accounted for over 10% of the Group’s revenue, including sales to a 
group of entities which are known to be under common control of this customer.

For the year ended 30 June 2014, revenue derived from sales by the manufacturing activities segment to two major 
customers amounting to HK$1,960,612,000 and HK$654,572,000 had accounted for over 10% of the Group’s 
revenue, including sales to a group of entities which are known to be under common control of these customers.
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold after allowances for returns, trade discounts and various types 
of government surcharges, where applicable.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue
Sale of goods 3,380,422 3,856,779   

Other income and gains
Net sample and material income 14,720 1,619
Interest income 18,583 10,071
Investment income 7,461 –
Exchange gain 12,119 –
Government grants 74 4,478
Gains on disposal of a subsidiary – 2,478
Others 582 394   

53,539 19,040   

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of inventories sold 2,497,831 2,853,270   

Employee benefit expense (including Directors’ remuneration as
set out in note 8)
– Wages and salaries 806,930 814,377
– Pension scheme contributions 25,515 20,031   

832,445 834,408   
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment (note 14) 50,493 43,747
Amortization of prepaid land lease payments (note 15) 459 457
Operating lease rentals 45,638 37,150
Impairment of trade receivables (note 20) 504 –
Write-down of inventories to net realizable value 8,883 26,370
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 994 700
Auditors’ remuneration 2,862 2,987
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary – (2,478)
Fair value loss, net:

Disposal of an available-for-sale investment – 364
Exchange (gain)/loss, net (12,119) 10,914   

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and section 78 of 
Schedule 11 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), with reference to section 161 of the predecessor 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32), is as follows:

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees 815 800
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 10,117 9,686
Discretionary bonuses 6,353 5,156
Pension scheme contributions 386 320   

17,671 15,962   
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)
Independent non-executive Directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive Directors were as follows:

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Yeung Chi Tat 205 200
Kwan Po Chuen, Vincent 205 200
Lung Hung Cheuk 205 200   

615 600   

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive Directors during the year (year ended 30 
June 2014: nil).

Executive directors and the chief executive

Fees

Salaries,
allowances,
and benefits

in kind
Discretionary

 bonuses

Pension
scheme

contributions
Total

remuneration
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 30 June 2015

Yeung Michael Wah 
Keung 50 3,893 902 – 4,845

Yeung Wo Fai 50 3,504 812 18 4,384
Chan Ka Dig Adam 50 1,360 2,120 174 3,704
Yeung Andrew Kin 50 1,360 2,519 194 4,123      

200 10,117 6,353 386 17,056      

Year ended 30 June 2014

Yeung Michael Wah 
Keung 50 3,752 902 5 4,709

Yeung Wo Fai 50 3,378 812 15 4,255
Chan Ka Dig Adam 50 1,302 1,721 151 3,224
Yeung Andrew Kin 50 1,254 1,721 149 3,174      

200 9,686 5,156 320 15,362      

Mr. Yeung Wo Fai is also the chief executive of the Group and his remuneration disclosed above includes the 
remuneration for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (year 
ended 30 June 2014: nil).



SITOY GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2015 73

Year ended 30 June 2015

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)
As at 30 June 2015, the remuneration payable to the Directors amounting to HK$1,027,000 (30 June 2014: 
HK$667,000) was recorded as payroll payable in other payables and accruals.

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included four Directors, including the chief executive (2014: four 
Directors, including the chief executive), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the 
remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2014: one) highest paid employee who is neither a Director nor chief 
executive of the Company are as follows:

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 760 737
Discretionary bonuses 857 857
Pension scheme contributions 81 80   

1,698 1,674   

The number of non-director, highest paid employee whose remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

Number of employee
Year ended 30 June  

2015 2014

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 1   

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which 
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in 
the Cayman Islands and BVI.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (year ended 30 June 2014: 16.5%) on the estimated 
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

The provision for PRC corporate income tax is based on a statutory rate of 25% (year ended 30 June 2014: 25%) 
of the assessable profit of the subsidiaries in Mainland China as determined in accordance with the PRC Corporate 
Income Tax Law which was approved and became effective on 1 January 2008.
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
The major components of income tax expense are as follows:

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Group:
Current – Hong Kong

Charge for the year 69,391 83,317
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years (515) 11

Current – Mainland China
Charge for the year 24,561 38,476

Deferred tax (note 17) 2,337 (5,804)   

Total tax charge for the year 95,774 116,000   

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which 
the Company and the subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of 
the applicable rates to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2015

Hong Kong
Mainland

China
Cayman

Islands Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before tax 429,719 66,308 11,694 507,721     

Tax at the statutory tax rate (i) 70,904 16,577 1,930 89,411

Adjustments in respect of current tax of 
previous years (515) – – (515)

Income not subject to tax – – (1,204) (1,204)
Expenses not deductible for tax – 678 – 678
Deductible temporary differences not 

recognized, net 9 231 – 240
Tax losses not recognized in

the current year 1,127 6,037 – 7,164     

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate 71,525 23,523 726 95,774     
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
Year ended 30 June 2014

Hong Kong
Mainland

China
Cayman

Islands Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before tax 488,437 127,598 4,219 620,254     

Tax at the statutory tax rate (i) 80,592 31,900 696 113,188

Adjustments in respect of current tax of 
previous years 11 – – 11

Income not subject to tax – – (976) (976)
Expenses not deductible for tax – 849 – 849
Deductible temporary differences not 

recognized, net (10) (2,438) – (2,448)
Tax losses not recognized in

the current year 752 4,624 – 5,376     

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate 81,345 34,935 (280) 116,000     

(i) During the year, the Company generated revenue in Hong Kong and was therefore subject to Hong Kong profits 
tax.

11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company included the following amount, which has been dealt 
with in the financial statements of the Company.

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (note 27) 290,968 259,499   
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12. DIVIDENDS

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim – 2015: HK10 cents per ordinary share
(2014: HK10 cents per ordinary share) 100,153 100,153

Proposed final – 2015: HK13 cents per ordinary share
(2014: HK18 cents per ordinary share) (i) 130,199 180,276   

230,352 280,429   

Note:

(i) On 14 September 2015, the Board of Directors of the Company resolved to propose a final dividend for the year 
ended 30 June 2015 of HK13 cents (year ended 30 June 2014: HK18 cents) per ordinary share out of the consolidated 
retained profits of the Group as at 30 June 2015 subject to the approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting of the Company.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year ended 30 June 2015 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 
1,001,532,000 (year ended 30 June 2014: 1,001,532,000) in issue during the year.

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on:

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company used in

the basic earnings per share calculation 411,947 504,254   

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during

the year used in the basic earnings per share calculation 1,001,532,000 1,001,532,000   

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share presented for the years ended 30 June 2015 and 2014 as 
the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during those years.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group

Buildings
Leasehold

improvements
Plant and

machinery
Office

equipment
Motor

vehicles
Construction

in progress Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:

At 1 July 2014 285,463 60,863 160,560 50,769 7,692 29,041 594,388
Additions 1,404 15,023 12,957 6,295 819 13,810 50,308
Transfers 40,918 – 81 9 – (41,008) –
Disposals – (4,374) (994) (70) (400) – (5,838)
Exchange realignment 1,981 390 1,009 222 28 100 3,730        

At 30 June 2015 329,766 71,902 173,613 57,225 8,139 1,943 642,588        

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 July 2014 41,777 35,343 59,472 23,223 5,736 – 165,551
Charge for the year 13,253 17,141 12,548 6,911 640 – 50,493
Disposals – (3,995) (448) (64) (292) – (4,799)
Exchange realignment 302 217 361 92 18 – 990        

At 30 June 2015 55,332 48,706 71,933 30,162 6,102 – 212,235        

Net carrying amount:

At 30 June 2015 274,434 23,196 101,680 27,063 2,037 1,943 430,353        

At 30 June 2014 243,686 25,520 101,088 27,546 1,956 29,041 428,837        
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Group

Buildings
Leasehold

improvements
Plant and

machinery
Office

equipment
Motor

vehicles
Construction

in progress Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:

At 1 July 2013 218,905 52,208 139,342 37,979 7,103 56,785 512,322
Additions 85 7,173 17,069 12,434 906 47,461 85,128
Transfers 65,597 4,228 5,264 267 – (75,356) –
Disposals – (2,930) (1,056) (19) (332) – (4,337)
Disposal of a subsidiary

(note 29) – – (552) – – – (552)
Exchange realignment 876 184 493 108 15 151 1,827        

At 30 June 2014 285,463 60,863 160,560 50,769 7,692 29,041 594,388        

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 July 2013 30,329 23,652 48,685 17,451 4,806 – 124,923
Charge for the year 11,326 14,121 11,338 5,750 1,212 – 43,747
Disposals – (2,513) (592) (16) (290) – (3,411)
Disposal of a subsidiary

(note 29) – – (98) – – – (98)
Exchange realignment 122 83 139 38 8 – 390        

At 30 June 2014 41,777 35,343 59,472 23,223 5,736 – 165,551        

Net carrying amount:

At 30 June 2014 243,686 25,520 101,088 27,546 1,956 29,041 428,837        

At 30 June 2013 188,576 28,556 90,657 20,528 2,297 56,785 387,399        

The Group’s land included in property, plant and equipment is situated in Hong Kong and is held under a medium 
term lease.
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15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS
Group

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
At beginning of the year 22,027 21,949
Exchange realignment 144 78   

At end of the year 22,171 22,027   

Accumulated amortization:
At beginning of the year 2,103 1,640
Charge for the year 459 457
Exchange realignment 15 6   

At end of the year 2,577 2,103   

Net carrying amount:
At end of the year 19,594 19,924   

Parcels of leasehold land are held under long term leases and are situated in Mainland China.

16. INTANGIBLE ASSET
Group

Trademark
HK$’000

At 30 June 2014 and 2015
Cost 4,140
Accumulated impairment –  

Net carrying amount 4,140  

Indefinite useful life
The Group classified the acquired “TUSCAN’S” trademark as an intangible asset with an indefinite life in Mainland 
China, Taiwan, Hong Kong, Macau and some other countries in accordance with IAS 38 Intangible Assets. This is 
supported by the fact that the “TUSCAN’S” trademark is a well-known and long established fashion brand, its legal 
rights are capable of being renewed indefinitely at insignificant cost and therefore are perpetual in duration, and based 
on future financial performance of the Group, they are expected to generate positive cash flows indefinitely.
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSET (continued)
Impairment testing
During the year ended 30 June 2015, the retail business incurred a loss before tax of HK$15,032,000. The Directors 
considered that the existence of the above condition indicated that the intangible asset of the Group might be 
impaired. In view of this, the Directors estimated the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit by comparing 
the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use of the cash-generating unit based on the discounted 
cash flow prepared by management. The estimate of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit as at 30 June 
2015 was determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on the three-year financial 
forecast approved by the executive Directors.

Key assumption used for the value in use calculation:
Discount rate: 19%

The Directors determine the above financial forecast based on the expectation of future market development, the 
strategic retail expansion plan going forward and believe that there is no impairment in the “TUSCAN’S” trademark. 
The Directors believe that any reasonably foreseeable change in the above key assumption would not cause the 
aggregate carrying amount of the trademark to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.

17. DEFERRED TAX
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Group

Unrealized
gain

arising from
intra-group
transactions

Deductible
losses

Temporary
differences
on prepaid
land lease
 payments

Accruals
and

provisions

Provision
against

inventories

Other
temporary
differences Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 2013 – 492 8,107 92 2,893 1,558 13,142
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the statement 

of profit or loss during the year (note 10) 531 280 (179) – 4,599 (1,338) 3,893
Exchange realignment – – 27 – 19 3 49        

Gross deferred tax assets at 30 June 2014 and
1 July 2014 531 772 7,955 92 7,511 223 17,084        

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the statement 
of profit or loss during the year (note 10) (531) 4,294 (180) 1,972 (4,501) (224) 830

Exchange realignment – 16 51 6 35 1 109        

At 30 June 2015 – 5,082 7,826 2,070 3,045 – 18,023        

The amount of unrecognized tax losses as at 30 June 2015 was HK$98,810,000 (30 June 2014: HK$67,375,000).
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17. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax assets (continued)
Company

Deductible
losses

HK$’000

At 1 July 2013 492
Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit or loss during the year 280  

Gross deferred tax assets at 30 June 2014 and 1 July 2014 772  

Deferred tax charged to the statement of profit or loss during the year (726)  

At 30 June 2015 46  

Deferred tax liabilities
Group

Unrealized loss
arising from
intra-group
transactions

Accelerated
tax

depreciation Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 2013 1,911 17 1,928
Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit or

loss during the year (note 10) (1,911) – (1,911)    

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 30 June 2014 and 1 July 2014 – 17 17    

Deferred tax charged to the statement of profit or
loss during the year (note 10) 1,991 1,176 3,167    

At 30 June 2015 1,991 1,193 3,184    

At 30 June 2015, no deferred tax has been recognized for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted 
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the 
opinion of the Directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable 
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China 
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognized totaled approximately HK$441,586,000 (30 June 2014: 
HK$385,047,000).
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$ HK$

Unlisted investments, at cost 430,000,008 430,000,008   

Investments in subsidiaries as at 30 June 2015 and 2014 represented the cost of the entire interests in Sitoy 
International Limited, Sitoy Handbag Factory Limited and Sitoy Investment International Limited.

19. INVENTORIES
Group

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 163,121 115,987
Work in progress 211,880 111,723
Finished goods 72,486 103,354   

447,487 331,064
Less: provision against inventories (12,876) (32,040)   

434,611 299,024   

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
Trade receivables 364,144 229,307
Impairment (504) –   

363,640 229,307   
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The Group grants different credit periods to 
customers. The credit terms range from telegraphic transfers before shipment and letters of credit at sight to letters 
of credit and telegraphic transfers within 14 to 90 days. The credit period of individual customers is considered on a 
case-by-case basis. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and closely monitors 
them to minimize credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade receivables are 
unsecured and non-interest-bearing. The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate to their fair values.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of 
provisions, is as follows:

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
Within 90 days 361,125 228,619
91 to 180 days 1,684 606
Over 180 days 831 82   

363,640 229,307   

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
At beginning of year – –
Impairment losses recognized (note 7) 504 –   

504 –   

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables is a provision for an individually impaired trade 
receivable of HK$504,000 (2014: nil) with a carrying amount before provision of HK$840,000 (2014: nil).

The individually impaired trade receivable relates to a customer that was in financial difficulty or was in default in 
principal payment and only a portion of the receivable is expected to be recovered.
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
An aged analysis of the trade receivables, regardless of whether they are past due or not, that are not individually nor 
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
Neither past due nor impaired 330,775 182,955
Past due but not impaired:

Less than 90 days 31,663 46,205
91 to 180 days 758 147
Over 180 days 108 –   

363,304 229,307   

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a number of diversified customers for whom there was 
no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a good track 
record with the Group. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable 
balances.

21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
Non-current portion:

Prepayments for items of property, plant and equipment 346 108   

Current portion:
Prepayments 12,121 15,514
Deposits and other receivables 19,663 18,514
Value-added tax 31,188 32,966   

62,972 66,994   

Total 63,318 67,102   

Company
Deposits and other receivables 1,428 1,393   
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21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial assets included in the above balances relate to 
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables approximate to their fair values.

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED TIME DEPOSITS

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
Cash and bank balances 597,119 861,163
Time deposits 748,703 524,128   

1,345,822 1,385,291
Less:

Time deposits with original maturity of more than three months when 
acquired, pledged as security for banking facilities (23,233) (22,929)   

Cash and cash equivalents 1,322,589 1,362,362   

Company
Cash and bank balances 23,729 21,624
Time deposits 496,293 453,638   

520,022 475,262
Less:

Time deposit with original maturity of more than three months when 
acquired, pledged as security for banking facilities (12,934) (12,850)   

Cash and cash equivalents 507,088 462,412   
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED TIME DEPOSITS (continued)
The cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB are as follows:

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
Denominated in RMB 920,313 547,345   

Company
Denominated in RMB 465,106 290,870   

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies in Mainland China, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign 
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, 
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorized to conduct foreign exchange 
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposit are made for 
varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, 
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy 
banks with no recent history of default.

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits approximate to their fair values.

23. BALANCES WITH SUBSIDIARIES

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Company
Amounts due from subsidiaries (i) 218,475 251,850    

Note:

(i) The balances due from subsidiaries are non-trade in nature. The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.

The carrying amounts of the balances with subsidiaries approximate to their fair values.
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24. TRADE PAYABLES

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
Trade payables 323,321 202,661   

An aged analysis of the outstanding trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as 
follows:

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
Within 90 days 313,345 191,153
91 to 180 days 8,950 5,116
181 to 365 days 482 6,392
Over 365 days 544 –   

323,321 202,661   

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally to be settled within 90 days. The carrying amounts of 
the trade payables approximate to their fair values.

25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
Payroll payable 80,827 71,137
Advances from customers 2,985 13,744
Accruals 5,363 4,940
Other payables 31,238 30,435   

120,413 120,256   



88 SITOY GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Year ended 30 June 2015

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Company
Payroll payable 165 –
Accruals 659 669   

824 669   

The carrying amounts of other payables and accruals approximate to their fair values.

26. SHARE CAPITAL
The movements in the authorized and issued share capital of the Company in the year ended 30 June 2015 are as 
follows:

Number of
ordinary shares

Nominal
value
HK$

Authorized ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each:
As at 30 June 2015 and 2014 3,000,000,000 300,000,000   

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each:
As at 30 June 2015 and 2014 1,001,532,000 100,153,200   

27. RESERVES
Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the reporting period are presented in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial statements.

Share premium
The application of the share premium account of the Company is governed by the Companies Law (Revised) of the 
Cayman Islands. Under the constitutional documents and the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the 
share premium is distributable as a dividend on the condition that the Company is able to pay its debts when they fall 
due in the ordinary course of business at the time the proposed dividend is to be paid.
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27. RESERVES (continued)
Group (continued)

Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of shares of the subsidiaries acquired and the 
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

Statutory reserve fund
In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable to wholly-foreign-owned companies, certain entities 
within the Group are required to allocate a certain portion (not less than 10%), as determined by their boards of 
directors, of their profit after tax in accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve fund (the “SRF”) until this 
reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital.

The SRF is non-distributable other than in the event of liquidation and, subject to certain restrictions set out in the 
relevant PRC regulations, can be used to offset accumulated losses or be capitalized as issued capital.

Company

Share
premium
account

Retained
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 30 June 2013 and 1 July 2013 1,050,081 9,273 1,059,354

Total comprehensive income for the year – 259,499 259,499
Final 2013 dividend – (160,245) (160,245)
Interim 2014 dividend – (100,153) (100,153)    

As at 30 June 2014 and 1 July 2014 1,050,081 8,374 1,058,455

Total comprehensive income for the year – 290,968 290,968
Final 2014 dividend – (180,276) (180,276)
Interim 2015 dividend – (100,153) (100,153)    

As at 30 June 2015 1,050,081 18,913 1,068,994    

28. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
Details of the pledged assets for banking facilities of the Group are included in note 22 to the financial statements.
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29. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY
On 14 March 2014, the Company disposed of its 100% equity interests in Dongguan Sitoy Leather Products 
Company Limited for a consideration of HK$507,000.

The net liabilities of the subsidiary as at the disposal date were as follows:

Carrying
amount

HK$’000

Net assets disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment (note 14) 454
Cash and cash equivalents 625
Trade and bills receivables 186
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 28
Inventories 6,114
Trade and bills payables (1,887)
Other payables and accruals (7,554)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 63  

(1,971)

Gain on disposal (note 6) 2,478  
Satisfied by cash 507  

An analysis of the net cash flow in respect of the disposal of the subsidiary is as follows:

Year ended
30 June 2014

HK$’000

Cash consideration 507
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (625)  

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of the subsidiary (118)  
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30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

Company

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Guarantees given to banks in connection with facilities granted to:
Subsidiaries 467,819 340,000   

31. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are 
negotiated for terms ranging from one to seven years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases falling due as follows:

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
Within one year 29,151 15,328
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 30,689 13,503
After five years – –   

59,840 28,831   

The operating leases of certain retail outlets also called for contingent rentals, which would be based on a certain 
percentage of turnover of the operations being undertaken therein pursuant to the terms and conditions as stipulated 
in the respective rental agreements. As the future turnover of these shops could not be accurately determined as at the 
end of the reporting period, the relevant contingent rentals have not been included.
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32. COMMITMENTS
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 31 above, the Group had the following capital 
commitments at the end of the reporting period:

As at
30 June

2015

As at
30 June

2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
Contracted, but not provided for:

Property, plant and equipment 965 7,951
Intangible asset 1,612 2,115   

2,577 10,066   

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

Year ended 30 June  
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Short term employee benefits 16,670 15,042
Post-employment benefits 386 320   

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 17,056 15,362   

Further details of the Directors’ emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of the items above also constitute connected transactions or continuing 
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as 
follows:

Group

Financial assets

As at
30 June

2015
Loans and
receivables

As at
30 June

2014
Loans and
receivables

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 363,640 229,307
Financial assets included in deposits and other receivables 19,663 18,514
Pledged time deposits 23,233 22,929
Cash and cash equivalents 1,322,589 1,362,362   

1,729,125 1,633,112   

Financial liabilities

As at
30 June

2015
Financial

liabilities at
amortized

cost

As at
30 June

2014
Financial

liabilities at
amortized

cost
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 323,321 202,661
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 117,428 106,512   

440,749 309,173   
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Year ended 30 June 2015

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

Company

Financial assets

As at
30 June

2015
Loans and
receivables

As at
30 June

2014
Loans and
receivables

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets included in deposits and other receivables 1,428 1,393
Amounts due from subsidiaries 218,475 251,850
Pledged time deposit 12,934 12,850
Cash and cash equivalents 507,088 462,412   

739,925 728,505   

Financial liabilities

As at
30 June

2015
Financial

liabilities at
amortized

cost

As at
30 June

2014
Financial

liabilities at
amortized

cost
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 824 669   

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial 
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various financial assets such as trade 
receivables and other receivables, which arise directly from its operations. The particular recognition methods adopted 
are disclosed in the accounting policy associated with each item in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

It is, and has been during the reporting period, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments should be 
undertaken.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of the risks which are summarized below:

Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures. These exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units in 
currencies other than the units’ functional currency. During the year ended 30 June 2015, 96.6% (year ended 30 June 
2014: 97.9%) of the Group’s sales were denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the operating 
units making the sale, whilst approximately 41.3% (year ended 30 June 2014: 45.5%) of costs were denominated in 
the units’ functional currency.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in 
the US$, EUR and RMB exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due 
to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

Group

Increase/
(decrease) in

US$/EUR/RMB

Increase/
(decrease)

in profit
before tax

% HK$’000

Year ended 30 June 2015

If HK$ weakens against US$ 5 37,847
If HK$ strengthens against US$ (5) (37,847)
If HK$ weakens against EUR 5 (212)
If HK$ strengthens against EUR (5) 212
If HK$ weakens against RMB 5 29,628
If HK$ strengthens against RMB (5) (29,628)

Year ended 30 June 2014

If HK$ weakens against US$ 5 38,402
If HK$ strengthens against US$ (5) (38,402)
If HK$ weakens against EUR 5 89
If HK$ strengthens against EUR (5) (89)
If HK$ weakens against RMB 5 17,348
If HK$ strengthens against RMB (5) (17,348)
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Year ended 30 June 2015

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers 
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are 
monitored on an ongoing basis, and therefore, the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, pledged time deposits 
and other receivables, arises from the default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 
amounts of these instruments.

As at 30 June 2015, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 42.0% (30 June 2014: 30.0%) and 73.0% 
(30 June 2014: 59.1%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer and the five 
largest customers, respectively.

Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the 
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank 
and other borrowings. In addition, banking facilities have been put in place for contingency purposes.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Group

As at 30 June 2015 On demand
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 64,776 258,545 – – 323,321
Other payables and accruals 117,428 – – – 117,428      

182,204 258,545 – – 440,749      

As at 30 June 2014 On demand
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 38,383 164,278 – – 202,661
Other payables and accruals 106,512 – – – 106,512      

144,895 164,278 – – 309,173      
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Company

As at 30 June 2015 On demand
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables and accruals 824 – – – 824      

As at 30 June 2014 On demand
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables and accruals 669 – – – 669      

Capital management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and a 
healthy capital ratio in order to support its business and maximize shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital 
during the year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s 
net debt consists of interest-bearing bank borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes total equity.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s strategy was to maintain the net borrowings to equity ratio at a 
healthy capital level in order to support its business. The principal strategies adopted by the Group include, without 
limitation, reviewing future cash flow requirements and the ability to meet debt repayment schedules when they fall 
due, maintaining a reasonable level of available banking facilities and adjusting investment plans and financing plans, 
if necessary, to ensure that the Group has a reasonable level of capital to support its business.

As at 30 June 2015 and 2014, the Group had no interest-bearing bank borrowings. As such, no gearing ratio as at 30 
June 2015 and 2014 is presented.

36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There were no significant events that took place after the reporting period and up to the date of approval of the 
financial statements.

37. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 September 2015.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years 
prepared on the basis set out in the notes below.

RESULTS:

Year ended 30 June
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 3,380,422 3,856,779 3,360,314 3,338,241 2,493,272
Profit before tax 507,721 620,254 489,155 462,666 362,856
Income tax expenses (95,774) (116,000) (88,658) (81,658) (60,436)
Profit for the year 411,947 504,254 400,497 381,008 302,420
Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company 411,947 504,254 400,497 381,008 302,420      
 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES:

As at 30 June
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 2,679,501 2,450,709 2,109,872 1,917,889 990,373      

Total liabilities (559,556) (470,229) (369,118) (338,955) (496,936)      

Net assets 2,119,945 1,980,480 1,740,754 1,578,934 493,437      

Notes:

(i) The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2011 and the assets and liabilities as at 30 
June 2011 has been extracted from the prospectus date 24 November 2011 (the “Prospectus’). Such summary is presented on 
the basis as set out in the Prospectus.

(ii) The consolidated results of the Group for the four years ended 30 June 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015 and the consolidated 
assets and liabilities of the Group as at 30 June 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015 have been extracted from the published audited 
financial statements. Such summary for the year ended 30 June 2012 was prepared as if the current structure of the Group 
had been in existence throughout that financial year.

The summary above does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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